AUSTRALIAN COMMISSION ON SAFETY AND QUALITY IN HEALTH CARE

TRIM 36658

National Medication Management Plan User Guide

November 2013

© Commonwealth of Australia 2010

This work is copyright. It may be reproduced in whole or in part for study or training purposes subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgement of the source. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights for purposes other than those indicated above requires the written permission of the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, GPO Box 5480 Sydney NSW 2001 or mail@safetyandquality.gov.au

Suggested citation

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (2009), *National Medication Management Plan User Guide*. ACSQHC, Sydney.

Acknowledgement

The Commission acknowledges the work of Queensland Health's former Medication Management Unit which developed Medication Action Procedure from which this work is adapted with permission.

Table of contents	
1. Preamble	1
1. Purpose	1
3. General instructions	2
4. Front page (including top section of page 3)	3
4.1 Identification of the patient	3
4.2 Allergies and adverse drug reactions	3
4.3 Patient location	4
4.4 Medication issues and management plan	4
5. Second page	6
5.1 Recently ceased or recent changes to medicines	6
5.2 Sources of medicines list	6
5.3 General information	6
5.4 Medication risk identification	7
5.5 Medication history checklist	7
6. Third page	8
6.1 Medicines taken prior to presentation to hospital	8
6.2 Medication reconciliation on admission	9
7. Back page	10
7.1 Medication changes during admission	10
7.2 Comments	10
7.3 Medication discharge checklist	10
7.4 Recommending a home medicines review	11
References	12
Appendix	13
Guide for completing the Medication Management Plan form	13

1. Preamble

The national Medication Management Plan (MMP) is an initiative of the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (the Commission). Designed for health services, the MMP is a standardised form to improve the accuracy and completeness of documented information and the continuity of medicines management, and that can be used by nursing, medical, pharmacy and allied health staff.

The MMP is based on the Medication Action Plan developed by the Safe Medication Management Unit, Queensland Health. This work was done in consultation with nurses, doctors and pharmacists. The MMP aligns with the Australian Pharmaceutical Advisory Council's *Guiding principles to achieve continuity in medication management*. It incorporates the minimum data set for a medication history outlined in Guiding Principle 4 - Accurate medication history.(1)

Consistent documentation allows accurate interpretation of orders

Communication problems between settings of care are a significant factor in causing medication errors and adverse drug events. Literature reviews have reported unintentional variances of 30 - 70% between the medicines patients were taking prior to admission and what they were prescribed on admission.(2) As many as 12% - 18% of these errors were considered potentially harmful. (3, 4) Australian data shows that patients with one or more medicine omitted from their discharge summary are 2.3 times more likely to be admitted to hospital as those with no omissions.(5, 6)

Medication reconciliation is a formal process that has been demonstrated to improve the continuity of medicines management, reducing medication errors by 70% and adverse drug events by over 15%.(7).

The process involves:

- obtaining and verifying a complete and current list of medicines taken prior to admission,
- documenting this list on a standard form;
- comparing the list against the medication orders on the NIMC (on admission and intrahospital transfer) or the discharge prescription and summary (on discharge);
- ensuring any discrepancies are rectified as appropriate; and
- documenting any resulting changes.

A standardised form to record the medicines taken prior to presentation at the hospital and use for reconciling patients' medicines on admission, intra-hospital transfer and at discharge is considered essential for the medication reconciliation process.(8)The national MMP provides Australian hospitals with a suitable form to use to for this purpose.

2. Purpose

The national MMP form is to be used to record medicines taken prior to admission to hospital and aid medication reconciliation on admission, intra-hospital transfer and discharge. It can be used to replace the *Medications taken prior to Presentation to Hospital* section on the National Inpatient Medication Chart (NIMC). The MMP can be used for **adult** and **paediatric** patients.

It is not to be used to record orders for, and administration of, medicines.

The MMP is also intended to be used as a record of medication issues and actions taken during the patient's episode of care. This information can be referred to during the patient's episode of care and used to inform the preparation of the discharge summary and prescriptions at time of discharge.

The MMP and the National Inpatient Medication Chart (NIMC) together form the main record of medicines for inpatients. The MMP should be kept with the active medication chart(s) throughout the patient's admission.

3. General instructions

- Consider privacy issues when writing on the form as it may be kept at the end of the bed where visitors and other persons may have access to the information.
 - Use appropriate wording. Facts should be clear, objective, relevant, correct and within context.
 - Ensure wording in the issues and actions section is objective, discreet, respectful and non-critical of the patient and members of the healthcare team. Avoid phrases which implies another practitioner has made an error or missed something significant. Choose words such as "suggest" or "consider" rather than "do" or "needs".
- Avoid using unsafe abbreviations. Use only accepted abbreviations. (See the National terminology, abbreviations and symbols to be used in the prescribing and administering of medicines in Australian hospitals)
 www.safetyandguality.gov.au/internet/safety/publishing.nsf/Content/NIMC_001).
- Write legibly in ink. No matter how accurate or complete an order is, it may be misinterpreted if it cannot be read. Use ball point pen black ink is preferable.
- Do not use water soluble ink (e.g. fountain pen).
- Do no use erasers or "whiteout". Errors must be crossed out and corrections rewritten.
- Keep the MMP with the active NIMC(s) throughout the patient's admission.

4. Front page (including top section of page 3)

4.1 Identification of the patient

(Affix patient identification	label here and overleaf)
-------------------------------	--------------------------

	URN:
	Family name:
	Given names:
-	Address:
-	
_	Date of birth: Sex: D M D F
	Ist Clinician to Print Patient
	Name and Check Label Correct:

Complete the patient identification by EITHER

- Affixing the current patient identification label OR,
- As a minimum, the **patient name, UR number, date of birth and gender** written in **legible print.**

The first clinician should print the patient's name under the label to reduce the risk of the wrong identification label being placed on the form.

ALLERGIES & A	DVERSE DRUG REACTIONS (A Inknown (tick appropriate box or complete deta	
Drug (or other)	Reaction/Date	Initials
Sign	PrintDate .	

4.2 Allergies and adverse drug reactions

Complete the Allergies and Adverse Drug Reactions section in the same way as on the NIMC.

- Medical officers, nursing staff and pharmacists are required to complete "Allergies and Adverse Drug Reactions (ADR)" details for all patients. (*Patients may be more familiar with the term allergy, than ADR, so this may be a better prompt*).
- If the patient is not aware of any previous allergy or ADRs, then the <u>Nil known</u> box should be ticked.
- If allergy and ADR status is unknown, tick the **unknown** box.
- The person documenting the information must sign, print their name and date the entry.

• If any information is added to this section after the initial interview the person adding the information must initial the addition in the designated area.

If a previous ADR exists, the following must be documented (as per the *Guidelines for use of the National Inpatient Medication Chart including the paediatric version*):

- name of medicine/substance
- reaction details (e.g. rash, nausea) and type of reaction (e.g. allergy, anaphylaxis)
- date that reaction occurred, or an approximate timeframe (e.g. 20 years ago).

4.3 Patient location

Clearly mark the patient's date of admission, current hospital and ward location on the front page of the MMP.

	Date of admission:	d d / m m / y y y y
Medication Management Plan	Ward / Clinic:	
Facility/Service:	Consultant	

4.4 Medication issues and management plan

Any medication management issues and required actions should be documented in the Medication Management Plan section of the form (page 1).

This area can be used:

- to document any issues identified through the process of medication review
- as a handover document between clinicians.

On discharge (or on transfer to another health facility) any outstanding medication issues or actions should be transferred to the next healthcare provider.

To document a medication issue, complete the following:

- date that the issue was identified
- description of the issue
- any action that is required
- the person responsible for that action
- name and contact number of the person identifying the issue

When the action has been completed, document the date of the action and a description of the results/ outcome of the action. This may be completed at a different time to the identification of the issue.

			Date of admissi	on:	0815	112	010
Medication Management Plan		Plan	Ward / Cli	nic:	Gen	Meo	l
Facility/	Service: PGH		Consult	ant: [Brou	SN	
Date / Time	Issue Identified	Proposed Action			Person sponsible	Date of Action	Result of Action
\$/1/	Patient normally takes metoprobal at home. Has not been charfed		nötify of plan. -if to be ued.	ï۸	ΛŌ	8/1/ to	netopolol Charted
2ри	been charled	Issue identifi Contact num	ed by: M Dunbar 1ber: 2948	p	hoim		

Simple issues and suggested actions should be documented fully in the MMP and the prescriber notified by page with a note such as "see pt X's MMP". More complicated or urgent issues should be discussed verbally with the prescriber and the agreed actions documented in the MMP. Full documentation of issues and actions in the MMP serves as an extra check and reminder for the prescriber, as well as a record of decision-making for future reference.

As the MMP may be kept at the end of the bed where visitors and other persons may have access to the information, wording should be objective, discreet, respectful and non-critical of the patient and members of the healthcare team. Avoid phrases which may imply another practitioner has made an error or missed something significant. Choose words such as "suggest" or "consider" rather than "do" or "needs".

For example:

Issue: On high dose steroids, risk of GI ulcer

Proposed Action: Consider PPI for gut protection

Issue: On gentamicin, risk of nephrotoxicity

Proposed Action: Recommend 2 & 6 hour blood levels on 13/8, aim for AUC of 80. Consider twice weekly serum creatinine and dipstick urinalysis.

Any urgent medication issues should be brought to the attention of the attending medical officer as soon as possible using more direct forms of communication such as telephone or pager.

5. Second page

This section of the form can be used to assist the interviewer obtain an accurate and comprehensive list of medicines that the patient is taking as well as information relating to the patient's ability to manage their medicines.

5.1 Recently ceased or recent changes to medicines

Recently ceased or recent changes to medicines can be recorded in this section of the form along with other relevant information such as the reason for the change. Recent changes to a patient's medicines may highlight the possibility of an adverse drug event which may have been the cause of the patient's admission.

5.2 Sources of medicines list

Confirmation of the medicine list with a second information source improves the accuracy and completeness of the medicines list. The community healthcare provider(s) should be contacted if appropriate. Tick the source/s used, document who confirmed it and the date of confirmation.

SOURCES OF MEDICINE LIST									
Source	Confirmed by	Date	Source	Confirmed by					
General Practitioner			Own Medicines						
Community Pharmacist			Community Nurse						
Patient / Carer			Patient List						
Nursing Home			Previous Admission						

5.3 General information

This area is to be used to record whether the patient usually administers their own medicines, whether they have brought in their own medicines and the location the medicines are stored in the hospital.

There is a section to record the preferred method of administration of medicines e.g. *all medicines via gastronomy tube*. For **paediatric** patients this section may be used to record that oral liquid preparations are preferred, or how the parent successfully manages medicines at home (e.g. *"mix with apple puree and give on a spoon"* or *"difficulty swallowing, all meds through gastrostomy, flush well with water"*).

There is also a prompt for documenting the immunizations status of **paediatric** patients. This may assist in diagnosis, and to plan for opportunistic vaccination where appropriate. Specific comments can be written alongside e.g. "*up to date at 2 months, catch up schedule planned for discharge, in end-of-bed folder*" or "*winter flu vaccination given in April*".

GENERAL INFORMATION		
Medicines usually administered by: Self Other (if other, specify):		
Preferred administration method:		
Did patient bring own medicines?	es No Location of own medicines:	
Patient's immunisation up to date?	es 🗌 No	
General Practitioner details	Community Pharmacist details	Residential Care Facility details

Date

The contact details of the patient's general practitioner, community pharmacist and residential care facility (if relevant) can also be recorded in the General Information area. These contact details may be useful when confirming the patient's medicines taken prior to presentation to hospital as well as other details.

5.4 Medication risk identification

The medication risk identification allows documentation of the patient's level of independence, the patient's ability to self-administer medicines and adherence issues. It assists in the identification of issues which require some form of action by nursing, pharmacy or medical staff. For example the patient uses a blister pack (e.g. Webster pack) as an administration aid and a new pack will be required when the patient is discharged.

MEDICATION RISK IDENTIFICATION			
Level of Independence	Yes	No	Patient Assessment Yes No
Lives alone			Can read/comprehend labels
Lives in residential care facility			Can understand English
Uses dose administration device i.e. spacers, inhaler device	s		Can measure liquids
Uses administration aid (specify):			Recent Home Medicine Review
Uses medication list			Suspected non-adherence
Swallowing issues			Assess adherence by asking: • People often have difficulty taking their pills for one reason or
Has impaired hearing			another. Have you had any difficulty taking your pills?
Has impaired vision			 About how often would you say you miss taking your medicines?
Other information:			Other information:

5.5 Medication history checklist

The Medication History Checklist is a tool to assist in determining a patient's complete medication history on presentation to hospital. It is recommended that the checklist is routinely used as part of the medication history interview with the patient or carer to help structure the interview and obtain as much information as possible.

MEDICATION HISTORY CHECKLIST	
Prescription medicines	Topical medicines (e.g. creams, ointments, lotions,
Sleeping tablets	patches)
Inhalers, puffers, sprays, sublingual tablets	Inserted medicines (e.g. nose/ear/eye drops, pessaries,
Oral contraceptives, hormone replacement therapy	suppositories)
Over-the-counter medicines	Injected medicines
Analgesics	Recently completed courses of medicine
Gastrointestinal drugs (for reflux, heartburn, constipation, diarrhoea)	Other people's medicine
Complementary medicines (e.g. vitamins, herbal or natural	Social and recreational drugs
therapies)	Intermittent medicines (eg. weekly or twice weekly)

6. Third page

6.1 Medicines taken prior to presentation to hospital

The admitting medical officer, a pharmacist or other clinician trained in taking an accurate medication history should complete this section.

The following should be documented:

- A complete list of all medicines normally taken prior to hospital admission (prescription, non-prescription (over-the-counter) and complementary medicines). For each medicine:
 - o Medicine details (generic and brand name, strength, form and route)
 - o dose and frequency
 - indication for use (confirm with patient)
 - o duration of therapy, i.e. when therapy was started
 - o Initials and profession of the person(s) obtaining and recording the information
- Whether the patient has more than seven days supply of medicine (this may be at home or have been brought into hospital by the patient). This information will help ensure that at discharge the patient receives only those medicines they require and reduce the potential confusion caused by duplicating the supply of medicines.

MEDICINES TA Medicine Generic name (Trade name) / Strength / Form / Route	Dose	Frequency	Indication (confirm with patient)	1	Initials, profes- sion	Dr's Plan On Admission ✓: Continue w: Withhold ×: Cease ▲: Change	Supply at home ✓	Reconcile
Frusemide (uver) po	40mg	monning	HP	72ys	PUD Parasa		V	Ĺ
Digokin 62.5 milerog po	12.5 million	morning		7245	MD.		\checkmark	
Ramipril 5mg po	5mg	Morning	HF	3 withs	ND	;		
Metoprolol 50mg po	asing	Morning	HF	with	MD		\checkmark	

Paediatric patients

Record details on the method of administration usually used in the medicine column. This should include the route e.g. NG, and the formulation e.g. oral mixture. It may be necessary to use an additional line for detailed information e.g. 10mg tablet dispersed in 10mL water, give 1mL.

MEDICINES TAKEN PRIOR TO PRESENTATION TO HOSPITAL										
Medicine Generic name (Trade name) / Strength / Form / Route	Dose	Frequency	Indication (confirm with patient)	How long or when started	miliais,	Dr's Plan On Admission ✓: Continue w: Withhold ×: Cease ▲: Change	Supply at home ✓	Reconcile √		
Omeprazole long tabs po	NOwng	Marning	1000.00000	4 mittes	Jed	\checkmark	4	~		
(Disparse tabs in water	rgiver	ria NG+	ube)							
	2/4 tab			1 week			~	~		
C Disperse one tablet in 8	mL was	er denve	Goulvi	a NG-	tube)					

6.2 Medication reconciliation on admission

The doctor's plan to continue, withhold, cease or change the medicines on admission should be recorded for each medicine listed. If not, clarification must be sought from the attending medical officer.

Each medicine taken prior to presentation should be checked against the medicines prescribed on the medication chart. Medicines which match (e.g. medication name, strength, dose, frequency), taking into consideration the Doctor's recorded plan, should have a 'tick' placed in the reconcile column. If discrepancies are found and there is no clinical reason for the discrepancy they must be clarified with the attending medical officer and adjusted accordingly before being ticked as reconciled.

MEDICINES TAKEN PRIOR TO PRESENTATION TO HOSPITAL								
Medicine Generic name (Trade name) / Strength / Form / Route	Dose	Frequency	Indication (confirm with patient)	How long or when started	Initials, profes- sion	Dr's Plan On Admission ✓: Continue w: Withhold ×: Cease ▲: Change	Supply at home ✓	Reconcile √
Frusemide (uver) po	40mg	monning	AF	72ys	MD Phann	A	V	ŕv
Digoxin 62.5 microg po	125 mire	morning		7245	MD.	W	\checkmark	\checkmark
Ramipril 5mg po	5mg	Marining	#F	3 mittas	ND	V		V
Metoprolal 50mg po	asing	morning	HF	Inith	MD		\checkmark	

7. Back page

7.1 Medication changes during admission

This area is to be used to record any medication changes or rationale for change during admission which may be required at the point of discharge to inform the patient (or carer), General Practitioner (GP) or community pharmacy. This information may be included on the medication record in the discharge summary if appropriate.

7.2 Comments

This section should be used to record any medication administration, supply notes or other information relevant to their discharge medicines.

For example the patient may:

- require a dose administration aid which needs to be organised with their community pharmacy prior to the patient's discharge
- have an administration aid at home and does not require one on discharge (e.g." has spacer device at home, do not re-supply on discharge")
- have to return to the hospital for a supply of a particular medicine if it is not available from their community pharmacy e.g.SAS product continuing on discharge
- require community liaison services to be organised.

7.3 Medication discharge checklist

This checklist outlines common tasks which occur on discharge. Each task should be considered, completed if appropriate and documented.

MEDICATION DISCHARGE CHECKLIST					
Reconciled on discharge	Sign:	Date:			
Own medicines returned	Sign:	Date:			
Permission for disposal of medicines	Sign:	Date:			
Medication supply	Sign:	Date:			
Dose administration aid	Туре:				
Script given to patient (if applicable)					
Discharge Medication Record given/sent to: Patient GP Pharmacy Other:					
	Sign:	Date:			
Consumer Medicine Information	Sign:	Date:			
Education provided	Sign:	Date:			
Recommend Home Medicines Review referral (see checklist below)? Yes No					

7.4 Reconciliation on discharge

When the medicines on the MMP have been reconciled against the NIMC, discharge prescription and summary the "reconciled on discharge" box in the Medication Discharge Checklist section should be ticked and the entry signed and date.

7.5 Recommending a Home Medicines Review

The home medicines referral section of the form helps the clinician determine whether a home medicines review is needed. If a referral for a home medicine review is required local processes should be followed to communicate this need to the patient and their GP.

RECOMMENDING A HOME MEDICINES REVIEW REFERRAL CHECKLIST						
Consider recommending a Home Medicines Review referral because:						
Difficulty managing medicines	Taking more than 12 doses per day					
Suspected non compliance	Significant changes to medication regimen during admission					
Inability to manage drug related therapeutic devices	Medication requiring therapeutic monitoring					
Taking more than 5 medicines						

Other:

References

- 1. Australian Pharmaceutical Advisory Council. Guiding principles to achieve continuity in medication management. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2005.
- 2. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Technical patient safety solutions for medicines reconciliation on admission of adults to hospital. London 2007.
- 3. Vira T, Colquhoun M, Etchells EE. Reconcilable differences:correcting medication errors at hospital admission and discharge. Qual Saf Health Care. 2006;15:122-6
- Gleason K, McDaniel M, Feinglass J, Baker D, Lindquist L, Liss D, et al. Results of the Medications at Transitions and Clinical Handoffs (MATCH) Study: An Analysis of Medication Reconciliation Errors and Risk Factors at Hospital Admission. J Gen Intern Med. 2010;25(5):441-7
- Stowasser D, Collins D, Stowasser M. A randomsied controlled trial of medication liaison services - patient outcomes. Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research. 2002;32(2):133-40.
- 6. Stowasser D, Stowasser M, Collins D. A randomised controlled trial of medication liaison services acceptance and use by health professionals. Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research. 2002;32:221-26.
- 7. Whittington J, Cohen H. OSF Healthcare's journey in patient safety. Quality Management in Health Care. 2004;13(1):53-9.
- 8. McLeod SE, Lum E, Mitchell C. Value of Medication Reconciliation in Reducing Medication Errors on Admission to Hospital. Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research. 2008;38(3):196-9.

Guide to completing the Medication Management Plan (MMP) Form

